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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

The issue is whether the City of Orlando (City) engaged in 

an unlawful employment practice by terminating Petitioner 

because of his age, national origin, and disability. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On May 5, 2014, Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination 

with the Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) alleging 

that he was unlawfully terminated from his position as a police 

officer with the City on account of his age, national origin, 

and disability in violation of section 760.10(1), Florida 

Statutes (2014).  After the allegations were investigated, on 

September 23, 2014, the FCHR issued a Notice of Determination: 

No Cause.  On October 21, 2014, a Petition for Relief was filed, 

and the case was transmitted by FCHR to DOAH requesting that a 

formal hearing be conducted. 

At the final hearing, Petitioner testified on his own 

behalf and presented the testimony of nine witnesses.  

Petitioner's Exhibits 1 through 13 and 15 through 36 were 

accepted in evidence.
1/
  The City presented no witnesses.  

Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 20 were accepted in evidence.   

Exhibit 20 is the deposition of Dr. Joseph Funk. 

There is no transcript of the hearing.  The parties filed 

proposed recommended orders, which have been considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Petitioner is a 42-year-old male of Puerto Rican 

origin.  After working as a paramedic in the Chicago area for 

several years, Petitioner began employment with the City as a 

police officer on May 11, 2003.  He continued in that capacity 

until May 9, 2013, when he was terminated for violating three 

Police Department (Department) regulations.  This was two days 

short of the ten-year vesting period for retirement purposes. 

2.  Petitioner suffered an on-duty injury to his right foot 

on December 7, 2007, while attempting to apprehend the driver of 

a stolen vehicle.  On January 2, 2008, the injury was initially 

diagnosed by Dr. Funk, a podiatric surgeon, as a Lisfranc 

(midfoot) fracture with minor dislocation and a possible 

compression injury or bone contusion to the naviculo-cuneiform 

joint in the right foot.
2/
  Based on the results of an MRI, and 

further review of his records, Dr. Funk concluded Petitioner had 

suffered a Lisfranc sprain, rather than a fracture.  At 

Petitioner's request, he was temporarily reassigned to 

alternative duty but returned to regular duty without limitation 

on March 19, 2008.  He was assigned to the gang unit and 

performed all functions required of a police officer. 

3.  Petitioner returned to see Dr. Funk in January and 

December 2009 after feeling pain in his right foot while 

running.  There were no changes in his maximum medical 
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improvement during either visit and Petitioner was released to 

work with no restrictions. 

4.  On September 12, 2010, while chasing on foot a suspect 

who had burglarized his patrol car parked at his home, 

Petitioner reinjured his right foot.  He was diagnosed with an 

aggravation of a pre-existing injury, restricted to light duty 

for one week, and instructed to return to full duty thereafter.
3/
   

5.  On March 9, 2011, Petitioner was treated by Dr. Funk 

who added an additional diagnosis of probable mild to moderate 

degenerative joint disease (DJD), also known as osteoarthritis, 

which had formed a few centimeters away from the midfoot sprain 

in his right foot.  Two weeks later, Dr. Funk noted that 

Petitioner "may" be a candidate for fusion of the arthritic area 

if "pain exceeds his tolerance and conservative measures fail." 

6.  On April 13, 2011, the City placed Petitioner on 

alternative duty status/relieved of duty as a result of his 

arrest on criminal charges (battery and false imprisonment) and 

his participation in a trial on the charges.   

7.  While relieved of duty, on August 17, 2011, Petitioner 

returned to Dr. Funk complaining of continued pain in his mid-

right foot.  He was again diagnosed with a Lisfranc injury and 

DJD.  At that point, however, Dr. Funk testified that the 

Lisfranc diagnosis "could easily fall off" leaving only DJD of 

the naviculo-cuneiform joint.  At Petitioner's request, his work 
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status remained "no limitations."  Visits to Dr. Funk in January 

and February 2012 did not change his work status. 

8.  On April 27, 2012, Petitioner was found not guilty of 

the criminal charges and returned to active duty as a police 

officer.  He was initially assigned to a day patrol shift. 

9.  On May 4, 2012, Petitioner was examined by Dr. Funk 

after complaining of radiating pain to his right foot and leg.  

Dr. Funk diagnosed this as possible tarsal tunnel syndrome and 

placed him on restrictions of no running or climbing.   

10.  On May 7, 2012, Petitioner submitted a memorandum 

through the chain of command to the Chief of Police requesting 

that he be placed on light duty due to his foot injury sustained 

in December 2007.  The memorandum, accompanied by a medical 

report, stated that Dr. Funk had "placed [him] on light duty 

until further notice with the restriction of no running or 

climbing of any kind."  Petitioner requested that he remain in 

his current assignment in Property and Evidence, one that did 

not require any running or climbing.   

11.  To reasonably accommodate his injury, the request for 

light duty was approved, but Petitioner was reassigned to the 

Innovative Response to Improve Safety (IRIS) unit.  IRIS is a 

video surveillance network in the City designed to deter crime.  

During a typical shift, no more than four officers sit at two 

terminals, which display video from cameras located throughout 
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the City.  Because there are no physical demands associated with 

IRIS, officers on restricted duty are normally assigned to the 

IRIS unit.   

12.  The IRIS unit has a day and night shift.  Officers 

cannot make their own schedule, as this depends on the 

availability of manpower.  However, relying on his nine-year 

seniority, Petitioner requested four ten-hour days per week on 

the IRIS day shift, which was approved by his supervisor,    

Sgt. Andrew Brennan.   

13.  On August 2, 2012, Petitioner sent an email to his 

supervisor complaining that one of his fellow officers on IRIS 

duty was "wasting resources" and not doing anything.  Six days 

later, Petitioner was reassigned to the night shift.  Although 

Petitioner says this change was in retaliation for complaining 

about an officer who was a good friend of Deputy Chief O'Dell, 

there is insufficient credible evidence to support this claim.   

14.  Petitioner was displeased with the night shift for 

several reasons.  First, he testified that it disrupted the 

medication he was taking for his foot.  He also stated that it 

prevented him from adequately caring for his three children and 

his wife, a former City police officer on a disability pension, 

who at that time was afflicted with Meniere's Disease.  Although 

Petitioner made at least two requests to change to the day 

shift, they were not approved.   
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15.  Department protocol requires that officers on 

restricted duty submit medical updates every 30 days, along with 

physician reports.  In accordance with that requirement, 

Petitioner timely submitted updates in June, July, and August 

2012.  They essentially stated that his condition was unchanged 

and that Dr. Funk was keeping him on light duty with 

restrictions of no running or climbing.   

16.  On September 14, 2012, Petitioner visited an urgent 

care facility complaining of numbness, pain, burning, and loss 

of motor function in his right foot.  He was treated by the on-

duty physician, Dr. Carlos, who gave him temporary restrictions 

of no driving any vehicle, no walking, no standing, and no 

performing any safety related duties until he saw his treating 

orthopedist.   

17.  On the same day, Petitioner submitted a medical update 

to the Department stating in part that a work status change was 

necessary in light of "the deteriorating condition of my injured 

right foot."  In the memorandum, he complained of occasional 

"numbness" in his right foot that spread up to his calf and 

knee.  He also stated that Dr. Carlos had examined him and 

"restricted me from doing the following:  I am not to stand, 

walk, drive any vehicle, or perform any safety sensitive duties 

until I am seen by an orthopedic physician."  He added:  "I am  
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to stay at home until I have been examined by a new physician."  

A copy of Dr. Carlos' medical report was attached to the update. 

18.  Petitioner returned to Dr. Funk on September 24, 2012, 

and stated that he did not feel safe to drive given the pain in 

his right foot.  Based on Petitioner's subjective complaints, 

rather than objective medical evidence, Dr. Funk placed him on 

restrictions of no driving, sit 90 percent of the time, and wear 

a shoe of choice.  Dr. Funk listed the diagnosis as "injury."  

Notably, Dr. Funk testified that by then he had some concern 

that Petitioner "was coming in often and it was something -- 

seemed to be something new every time" and that the different 

diagnoses "ultimately came back as negative."  He added that 

there was not "a tremendous amount of objective pathology 

present" even though Petitioner complained of significant 

discomfort in a "multiplicity of locations."  

19.  Although he had recommended approval of Petitioner's 

requests for light duty each month, beginning in May 2012 Deputy 

Chief O'Dell had doubts that the 2007 foot injury justified 

continued light duty, especially since Petitioner had been on 

alternative duty during the entire time he was charged with a 

crime, and he had never raised the injury issue with the 

Department. 

20.  Deputy Chief O'Dell construed the new medical 

assessment in the September 14, 2012, memorandum as meaning that 
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Petitioner was unable to report to work.  His skepticism of the 

injury increased as this new restriction coincided with 

Petitioner's displeasure with being reassigned to the IRIS night 

shift.   

21.  Because of his skepticism, and with the Chief of 

Police's approval, Deputy Chief O'Dell requested that the 

Metropolitan Bureau of Investigation (MBI), a multi-agency task 

force, conduct surveillance on Petitioner to confirm whether or 

not his putative injury was real.  Beginning on October 4, 2012, 

and continuing until November 30, 2012, MBI agents conducted 

periodic surveillance of Petitioner's home to determine 

Petitioner's level of activity.   

22.  During this same time period, Petitioner remained at 

home on full pay.  He submitted medical updates on October 12 

and 29 and November 6, 2012, stating that pursuant to physician 

orders, the following restrictions were put in place for 

Petitioner:  "no driving, sitting 90% of time, and wear shoe of 

choice for comfort."  During the November 6 visit, Dr. Funk told 

Petitioner that he had nothing else to offer him from a 

musculoskeletal standpoint and the only option was "good support 

in his shoe and kind of common sense majors." 

23.  On November 7, 2012, Petitioner sent an email to the 

Department stating that he was willing to come back to work in 

the IRIS unit if the Department provided transportation, as it 
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had for other officers on restricted duty.  He also complained 

that the midnight shift "caused havoc with sleep and 

medications," suggesting that he could only work the day shift. 

24.  On November 27, 2012, at a meeting convened by Deputy 

Chief O'Dell, Petitioner was asked when he could return to work.  

Petitioner responded that he was in constant pain, he could not 

drive, and he had lost motor function in his foot.   

25.  On November 30, 2012, Petitioner was served at his 

home with a Return to Duty Notice and instructed to return to 

the IRIS night shift on December 2, 2012.  Petitioner replied by 

email that he had loss of motor function in his right foot and 

was not able to drive any motor vehicle.  Notably, that same 

day, he was observed by MBI agents driving his motor vehicle to 

and from his home.  Petitioner also stated that if he sat for 

long periods of time his foot would go numb, even though one of 

his medical restrictions required him to sit 90 percent of the 

time.  Petitioner warned the Department that unless it provided 

him with transportation to and from work, he would be forced to 

drive himself, and if an accident occurred, he would hold the 

City responsible for any damages.   

26.  In response to his email, the Deputy Chief advised 

Petitioner that the Department was not directing him to drive 

anywhere, but it was his responsibility to get to work.  He was 

told that he could use public or private transportation, but the 
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Department did not have the responsibility of providing 

transportation.   

27.  Petitioner lives approximately 18 miles from 

Department headquarters, and he concluded that neither option 

was practical.  Petitioner testified that two officers, 

Shoemaker and Almeida, who were not called as witnesses, told 

him they had been provided transportation by the Department when 

on light duty.  However, the Department's response was correct, 

as providing transportation for officers on restricted duty was 

contrary to Department policy.  This was confirmed at hearing by 

the then Chief of Police. 

28.  Sometime in October 2012, MBI agents placed a motion-

activated surveillance camera in the yard of Petitioner's 

neighbor in order to monitor Petitioner's activities.  The 

camera remained at the neighbor's house through the month of 

November.  The surveillance video, as supplemented by visual 

observations by the MBI agents, shows Petitioner driving his 

daughter to a nearby school on multiple occasions, driving to a 

supermarket, walking two large dogs without a limp on a street 

near his home, rolling trash cans to the curb, using a gas-

powered edger in his yard, rotating tires on his vehicle, 

walking to the gym to work out, and bending over to retrieve 

items on the ground.  At hearing, Petitioner also acknowledged 

that during this same time period, he twice drove his wife to a 
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hospital more than twenty miles from his home, as she was unable 

to drive.  According to the physician's report, at least some of 

these were restricted activities.   

29.  At the request of Deputy Chief O'Dell, an Internal 

Affairs investigation was initiated on December 7, 2012, 

regarding a possible violation by Petitioner of Department 

Regulation 1000-4, the so-called "truthfulness" regulation, for 

misrepresenting his medical condition.  The regulation states 

that "[e]mployees are required to be truthful at all times 

whether under oath or not."  Given the evidence produced by MBI, 

this was a reasonable course of action to take. 

30.  After a lengthy investigation, Internal Affairs 

submitted a written report on April 29, 2013.  The report 

concluded that besides violating the truthfulness regulation, 

Petitioner violated Regulation 300.23, Reporting Sick, which 

prohibits an officer feigning illness or injury, falsely 

reporting himself as injured, or otherwise attempting to deceive 

the Department as to his condition of health.  The report also 

concluded that Petitioner violated Regulation 200-8, Obedience 

to Laws and Department Procedures, by fraudulently pursuing a 

workers' compensation claim under section 440.105(4)(b)(2).  

However, Petitioner was never criminally charged for this 

violation.  The report recommended that Petitioner receive an 

oral reprimand for violating Regulation 300.23, a 240-hour 
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suspension for violating Regulation 200-8, and termination for 

violating the truthfulness regulation.  Although Petitioner 

questioned why two new charges were added by Internal Affairs, 

it is not unusual for new charges to be added or substituted 

during the course of an investigation. 

31.  A Notice of Termination meeting was conducted on    

May 6, 2013, to allow Petitioner an opportunity to "present any 

new information or provide clarification that would lessen the 

degree of discipline presently recommended."  By then, Deputy 

Chief O'Dell had retired.  Petitioner and his union 

representative attended the meeting.   

32.  On May 9, 2013, Petitioner was terminated for 

violating the three regulations.  According to the Chief of 

Police, the evidence to support this decision was 

"overwhelming."  The termination decision was agreed upon by 

every person in the chain of command, including the new Deputy 

Chief.  It was not based on Petitioner's national origin, age, 

or disability; rather, it was based on the sustained charges in 

the lengthy Internal Affairs report.  

33.  Every officer, including those of Hispanic origin, 

found guilty of violating the truthfulness regulation has been 

terminated by the Department.   

34.  Petitioner does not dispute what the video shows.  He 

testified that the driving activities were short trips of no 
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more than a mile or so from his home that were necessary because 

his young daughter and sick wife were unable to drive.  He 

admitted that while it was unsafe, he always drove with his left 

foot rather than with the injured right foot.  Petitioner 

contends that none of the activities in the video were 

inconsistent with the doctor's restrictions, as he was always 

allowed to perform "routine functions around home."  However, 

this explanation has not been accepted, as many of these 

activities are not consistent with his treatment plan. 

35.  Petitioner admits that many of his difficulties at the 

Department were due to "running his mouth," which gained him no 

favors from his superiors and resulted in very little career 

advancement.  He contended that other officers, especially those 

who played on the Department softball team with Deputy Chief 

O'Dell, were given more favorable treatment, but no credible 

evidence to support this contention was submitted.   

36.  On May 7, 2013, or two days before he was terminated, 

Petitioner filed an application for a line-of-duty disability, 

which would allow him to retire because of a disability suffered 

in the line of duty.  This application was denied by the Board 

of Trustees of the City of Orlando Pension Trust Fund on 

December 5, 2013, on the ground Petitioner never filed a 

completed application package, a mandatory requirement.  

However, his contested application for unemployment benefits was 
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approved, and he continues to receive benefits under an open 

workers' compensation case.  On June 30, 2014, Dr. Funk operated 

on Petitioner's right foot, fusing two joints, due to arthritic 

changes and his subjective complaints.  The cost was covered by 

the City under Petitioner's open workers' compensation case.   

37.  Petitioner is presently employed as a life guard at 

Disney World, not because of his 2007 injury, but because he 

says the City's action makes it impossible for him to find a job 

in law enforcement or even to work as a security guard.  He 

expressed a desire to return to law enforcement work if he 

prevails in this matter. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

38.  Petitioner has the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the City committed an 

unlawful employment practice.  See § 120.57(1)(j), Fla. Stat. 

39.  Section 760.10(1) states that it is an unlawful 

employment practice for an employer to discharge or otherwise 

discriminate against an individual on the basis of age, national 

origin, or disability.   

40.  FCHR and Florida courts have determined that federal 

discrimination law should be used as guidance when construing 

provisions of section 760.10.  See, e.g., Fla. State Univ. v. 

Sondel, 685 So. 2d 923, 925 n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Valenzuela 

v. GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).   
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41.  Complainants alleging unlawful discrimination may 

prove their case using direct or circumstantial evidence of 

discriminatory intent.  Direct evidence is evidence that, if 

believed, would prove the existence of discriminatory intent 

without resort to inference or presumption.  Denney v. City of 

Albany, 247 F.3d 1172, 1182 (11th Cir. 2001).  Only the most 

blatant remarks, whose intent would be nothing more than to 

discriminate on the basis of some impermissible factor, 

constitute direct evidence of discrimination.  Wilson v. B/E 

Aerospace, Inc., 376 F.3d 1079, 1086 (11th Cir. 2004).  No 

direct proof was presented by Petitioner. 

42.  When no direct proof of discrimination exists, the 

employee may attempt to establish a prima facie case 

circumstantially through the burden-shifting framework 

articulated in McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 

792, 802-805 (1973).  Failure to establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination ends the inquiry.  See Kidd v. Mando Am. Corp., 

731 F.3d 1196, 1202 (11th Cir. 2013).  If, however, the employee 

succeeds in making a prima facie case, the burden then shifts to 

the employer to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory 

reason for its complained-of conduct.  Id.  This intermediate 

burden of persuasion is "exceedingly light."  Vessels v. Atlanta 

Indep. Sch. Sys., 408 F.3d 763, 769-70 (11th Cir. 2005).  Should 

the employer meet this burden, the employee must then establish 
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that the proffered reason was not the true reason for the 

employment decision, but rather a pretext for discrimination.  

Kidd, 731 F.3d at 1202.  The employee must satisfy this burden 

by showing directly that a discriminatory reason more likely 

than not motivated the decision, or indirectly, by showing that 

the proffered reason for the employment decision is not worthy 

of belief.  Dep't of Corr. v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183, 1186 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1991).  The claimant must show not merely that the 

employer's employment decisions were mistaken, but that they 

were in fact motivated by discriminatory animus.  Wilson, 376 

F.3d at 1092.  Notwithstanding these shifts in the burden of 

production, the ultimate burden of persuasion remains at all 

times with the employee.  Byrd v. BT Foods, Inc., 948 So. 2d 

921, 927 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).   

43.  To establish a prima facie case of age discrimination 

with circumstantial evidence, Petitioner must show that (a) he 

was a member of a protected age group; (b) he was qualified for 

the job; (c) he was subject to an adverse employment action; and 

(d) he was replaced by someone of a different age, or, in the 

case of disparate treatment, he must show that other similarly 

situated employees of a different age were treated more 

favorably.  Andrade v. Morse Operations, Inc., 946 F. Supp. 979 

(M.D. Fla. 1996).  In cases under section 760.10(1)(a), however, 

the FCHR has concluded that unlike cases brought under the 
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federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the age of 40 has 

no significance in the interpretation of the Florida Civil 

Rights Act of 1992.  See, e.g., Grasso v. AHCA, Case No. 14-2523 

(Fla. DOAH Sept. 9, 2014; FCHR Jan. 14, 2015).  To satisfy the 

last element of a prima facie case of age discrimination under 

Florida law, it is sufficient for Petitioner to show that he was 

treated less favorably than similarly situated individuals of a 

"different" age as opposed to a "younger" age.   

44.  Petitioner has shown that he is a member of a 

protected age group and was subject to an adverse employment 

action.  However, he failed to prove that other similarly 

situated officers were treated differently.  The evidence shows 

that every officer found guilty of violating the truthfulness 

regulation has been discharged, regardless of their age.  Even 

assuming that Petitioner established a prima facie case, the 

City articulated a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its 

action, namely, that Petitioner was discharged because of 

violations of Department policies and procedures that require 

officers to be truthful, obey laws, and report changes to 

medical status to supervisors without misrepresentation or 

deception.  Petitioner did not prove that the articulated reason 

was a pretext. 

45.  To establish a prima facie case of discrimination 

based on his national origin, Petitioner must show that he 
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belongs to a protected group; he was subjected to an adverse 

employment action; his employer treated similarly situated 

employees outside the protected group differently or more 

favorably; and he was qualified to do the job.  Holifield v. 

Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997).   

46.  While Petitioner established that he is a member of a 

protected class (Hispanic) and was subjected to an adverse 

employment action, he failed to prove that the City treated 

similarly situated employees outside his protected class more 

favorably.  Specifically, Petitioner failed to present any 

evidence that the City allowed non-Hispanic police officers to 

violate its policy regarding truthfulness, obeying laws, and 

misrepresenting medical conditions to superiors without being 

terminated.   

47.  Even if a prima facie case were shown, the City 

articulated legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for 

Petitioner's discharge.  Petitioner failed to present any 

evidence that would allow a reasonable person to conclude that 

the City's explanation for his discharge is false.   

48.  To state a prima facie case of discrimination based on 

a disability, a complainant must prove that (a) he has a 

disability; (b) he is a qualified individual with a disability; 

and (c) he was subjected to unlawful discrimination because of 
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his disability.  Morisky v. Broward Cnty., 80 F.3d 445, 447 

(11th Cir. 1996). 

49.  To establish the first prong of the test, Petitioner 

was required to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that 

(1) he had a physical disability that substantially limited one 

or more of the major life activities; (2) he had a record of 

such impairment; or (3) he was regarded by the City as having an 

impairment.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A)-(C). 

50.  Driving is not a major life activity.  Carlson v. 

Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 237 Fed. Appx. 446 (M.D. Fla. 2007); 

Delgado v. Sears Holdings Corp., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44393 

(N.D. Ill. June 5, 2008).  Thus, an inability to drive to and 

from work is not an impairment of a major life activity within 

the meaning of the law.  See Chenoweth v. Hillsborough Cnty., 

250 F.3d 1328, 1330 (11th Cir. 2001)(claimant's inability to 

drive to work for at least six months did not qualify as an 

impairment).  See also Burgos v. Chertoff, 274 Fed. Appx. 839 

(11th Cir. 2008)(a homeland security officer's inability to 

drive was determined not to be a major life activity that would 

qualify him as being disabled).  Even assuming arguendo that 

driving were a major life activity, an impairment's minor 

interference in major life activities does not qualify as a 

disability.  Toyota Motor Mfg., Kentucky, Inc. v. Williams, 534 

U.S. 184, 198 (2002).  The impairment's impact must be permanent 
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or long-term.  Id.  Intermittent, episodic impairments are not 

disabilities.  Vande Zande v. Wisc. Dep't of Admin., 44 F.3d 

538, 544 (7th Cir. 1995).  Here, the evidence shows that 

Petitioner's impairment was not permanent, and at best was 

intermittent or episodic.  Petitioner has failed to establish 

that he had a physical disability that substantially limited a 

major life activity within the meaning of the law. 

51.  While medical records can serve as a basis for 

demonstrating a disability, Petitioner must prove from his 

records that he actually suffered a physical impairment in the 

past that substantially limited his major life activities.  

Cribbs v. City of Altamonte Springs, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20084 

(M.D. Fla. Oct. 18, 2000).  As previously found, the medical 

records do not show that Petitioner suffered a physical 

impairment that substantially limited a major life activity.   

52.  Finally, the City did not regard Petitioner as being 

disabled.  To the contrary, the City always believed that he was 

capable of working with the temporary restrictions assigned.  

Petitioner has failed to make a prima facie case for 

discrimination based on a disability, and the inquiry on this 

issue must necessarily end.  Kidd, 731 F.3d at 1202.  

53.  Assuming arguendo that Petitioner made out a prima 

facie case, the City articulated a non-discriminatory reason for 

the adverse employment decision.  Insufficient evidence was 



 22 

presented to support a conclusion that the reasons given by the 

City were not the real reasons for the employment decision.   

54.  Given the foregoing considerations, the Petition for 

Relief should be dismissed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing, with prejudice, the Petition for 

Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 21st day of April, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S 

D. R. ALEXANDER 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 21st day of April, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  Petitioner's Exhibits 2 through 13 duplicate exhibits offered 

by the City.  For the sake of efficiency, Petitioner only 

submitted copies of Exhibits 1 and 15 through 36. 
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2/
  The parties submitted literally hundreds of pages of medical 

records dating back to 2007.  Rather than describing the records  

in minute detail, the undersigned has summarized the salient 

points necessary to resolve this dispute. 

 
3/
  In general terms, an officer on alternative duty is assigned 

administrative tasks, while an officer on light duty is assigned 

non-administrative work.  However, the terms were often used 

interchangeably during the hearing.  A more precise description 

of the two could have been found in the record, had a transcript 

been provided.  Under the Agreement between the City and the 

Fraternal Order of Police, both are considered restricted duty.  

See Respondent's Ex. 13, p. 40.
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within  

15 days of the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to 

this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that will 

render a final order in this matter. 
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether Respondent, American Water Service Company, Inc., 

(“American Water”), discriminated against Petitioner, Micheal D. 

Bristol (“Bristol”), in violation of the Florida Human Rights 

Act and, if so, what penalty should be imposed? 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On March 7, 2014, Bristol filed an Employment Complaint of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(“FCHR”).  The complaint alleged discrimination by Bristol’s 

employer, American Water, on the basis of Bristol’s handicap or 

disability.  FCHR issued a Determination:  No Cause dated 

September 8, 2014.  Bristol timely filed a Petition for Relief 

from an Unlawful Employment Practice on October 9, 2014.  The 

Petition was forwarded to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings and assigned to the undersigned.   

At the final hearing, Bristol testified on his own behalf 

and called four additional witnesses:  Sonya Jackson, RN, a 

contract nurse with American Water; Preston Pallas, senior Human 

Relations (“HR”) business partner with American Water; Laura 

Delles, HR business partner with American Water; and Travis 

Stabler, Bristol’s domestic partner.  Bristol’s exhibits 1-3, 

5-6, 10-11, 13, 16, 19-21, and 23 were admitted into evidence. 

American Water did not call any witnesses, having presented its 

case-in-chief through Bristol’s witnesses.  American Water’s 
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exhibits 6, 12-13, 30-31, 34, and 36-37 were admitted into 

evidence.  American Water filed a Motion in Limine just prior to 

commencement of the final hearing, seeking to exclude all 

evidence and testimony concerning Bristol’s Family Medical Leave 

Act (“FMLA”) leave taken during his employ at American Water.  

The motion was denied with leave to raise objections to such 

testimony during final hearing. 

The parties agreed to order a transcript of the final 

hearing.  The parties requested 20 days after filing of the 

transcript at DOAH to submit their proposed recommended orders; 

the request was granted.  The Transcript was filed at DOAH on 

March 5, 2015.  Each party timely filed a Proposed Recommended 

Order and each was considered in the preparation of this 

Recommended Order.
1/
   

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Bristol is a 33-year-old, Caucasian male.  He has been 

diagnosed with lumbar disk degeneration, depression, and 

anxiety.  He holds a General Education Degree.  At all times 

relevant hereto, Bristol was employed by American Water as a 

customer service representative.  A customer service 

representative fields calls from American Water’s customers 

concerning complaints, renewals, changes in services, or other 

issues.  The customer service representative uses a telephone 
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and computer to respond to between 60 and 100 customer inquiries 

per day.  The customer’s account information is brought up on 

the customer service representative’s computer in order to 

assist with whatever issue is raised concerning the customer’s 

complaint or issue. 

2.  American Water is a utilities company that contracts 

with municipalities to provide water and sewer services to the 

citizens of the cities.  It is a national company with water 

utility customers in several states.  It is governed in part by 

the Public Utilities Commission and is charged with meeting 

certain standards regarding customer complaints.  Having 

customer service representatives who are available and qualified 

is an important factor in meeting those standards.  

3.  There are between 200 and 250 customer service 

representatives at American Water’s office in Pensacola, 

Florida, where Bristol was employed.  American Water has another 

customer service center in Alton, Illinois, with about 200 

customer service representatives.  Calls coming in from 

customers are routed to the first available representative, 

regardless of at which service center they are working.  Each 

representative sits in a cubicle with a desk holding two 

computer monitors, a telephone, and other necessary equipment.  

The customer service representatives wear headsets for the 
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telephone which have cords of five to six feet in length.  The 

back side of the cubicle is open to a common area. 

4.  It is imperative that American Water maintain an 

adequate workforce of representatives each day.  Using 

historical data, American Water tries to estimate the number of 

representatives who must be working each hour of each day.  Some 

days historically have more incoming calls than other days, and 

American Water staffs accordingly.  It is understood that some 

employees may need to take sick leave from time to time.  All 

employees are given vacation days.  Thus, making sure that there 

are enough workers on any given day is a moving target, yet it 

is integral to the work being done.  American Water has 

instituted policies to help assure adequate staff.  For example, 

there is a limit on the number of employees who may be on 

vacation at any given time.  Some employees are allowed to work 

part time, but with a very definitive schedule.  All employees 

are required to notify American Water immediately if they are 

unable to work on their assigned dates and times.  Attendance is 

a singularly important requirement for an American Water 

customer service representative. 

5.  At some point in time after he was first hired by 

American Water, Bristol was diagnosed with a degenerative disk 

disorder.  The disorder causes him discomfort, making it 
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difficult to sit for long periods of time.  (However, see 

paragraph 19, below.) 

6.  Bristol left his employment with American Water in 

October 2010.  In May 2011, he returned to American Water, again 

as a representative in the customer service center.  He had the 

same duties as in his previous employment.  

7.  As Bristol began to experience more problems with his 

back, he began to use up all of his annual leave and sick leave 

when he felt he was unable to work.  There was no evidence 

presented at final hearing as to how many annual leave hours 

employees receive, but each employee is allowed 80 sick leave 

hours per year.  In 2012, Bristol applied for additional leave 

under FMLA and was approved for 480 hours, equivalent to 60 full 

work days.  American Water approved intermittent leave under 

FMLA for one day per month with up to two days per time.  During 

calendar year 2012, Bristol used some but not all of his FMLA 

leave. 

8.  Bristol reapplied for FMLA leave again in February 

2013, and was approved for another 480 hours.  In that year, he 

used all 480 hours of FMLA leave.  Bristol took leave whenever 

he felt like his back pain would prevent him from working.  The 

leave was described as “intermittent” because there was no 

regular schedule or times associated with the leave.  His 
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schedule was, therefore, contrasted from a part-time employee 

who works fewer hours on a predetermined but regular schedule. 

9.  On or about November 18, 2013, Bristol was notified 

that his FMLA leave had been used up.  He had also exhausted his 

annual leave and sick leave allotment.  Despite the fact that 

Bristol’s intermittent leave had created scheduling problems for 

the company, an employee of American Water provided Bristol with 

the necessary paperwork for requesting leave under the Americans 

with Disability Act (“ADA”).  Part of that paperwork was a 

Health Care Provider Statement (“HCPS”) to be completed by his 

physician.  Bristol was advised that after completing the HCPS, 

American Water would try to ascertain whether there were any 

accommodations they could provide to him on the job.  Bristol 

submitted the HCPS to his treating physician to be completed and 

returned to American Water. 

10.  Meanwhile, American Water tried to accommodate 

Bristol’s condition.  He was provided an ergonomic work station, 

having a desk that could be raised or lowered, allowing Bristol 

to work while standing or sitting.  He could change positions as 

needed to alleviate his back pain as much as possible.  He could 

move, albeit not very far, within his small work area.  

Contradictory testimony was presented as to the exact size or 

configuration of the work space, so how much Bristol was able to 

move around is not clear.  It is clear, however, that American 
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Water attempted to accommodate his needs as much as the 

situation allowed. 

11.  Bristol’s physician, Dr. Carie Fletcher, completed and 

signed the HCPS on November 26, 2013.  The form was provided to 

American Water.  Based upon the information supplied by       

Dr. Fletcher, American Water notified Bristol by letter dated 

December 2, 2013, that the current ergonomic work station and 

job duties were sufficient accommodations for the malady 

described by his doctor.  Bristol said he did not believe the 

accommodations were sufficient.  

12.  American Water thereafter asked Dr. Fletcher whether 

she had anything to add concerning Bristol’s disability or 

impairment.  In response to that inquiry, Dr. Fletcher amended 

her previous submission, specifically on sections 4(b) and 7 of 

the form.  Section 4(b) asks this question:  “Is the Patient 

‘substantially limited’ as to the condition, manner, or duration 

under which the Patient can perform that major life activity as 

compared to the condition, manner, or duration under which the 

average person in the general population can perform that same 

major life activity.”  Dr. Fletcher had originally stated, 

“Cannot stand/sit for prolonged periods (>1 hr), cannot lift 

objects >25 lbs secondary to back pain.”  Upon American Water’s 

inquiry, she added this statement:  “May expect exacerbation of 

back pain/DJD intermittently, up to 5-7 occurrences per month, 
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at two days per occurrence.”
2/  

The question at section 7 of the 

form asked, “Does the diagnosed condition or conditions affect 

the Patient’s ability to perform any one of the essential 

functions of the Patient’s position?”.  Dr. Fletcher originally 

stated:  “Recommend allowing frequent position changes, limit 

lifting; will likely still experience intermittent exacerbations 

of back pain.”  When American Water asked for additional detail, 

Dr. Fletcher added:  “Please allow pt to stand and walk at 

liberty for approx five minutes every hour.”  The amendments 

were provided to American Water on December 10, 2013. 

13.  American Water’s HR personnel discussed the doctor’s 

recommendations and decided that the ergonomic work area and the 

extension cord on the telephone headset would allow Bristol the 

movement and flexibility needed.  Lifting heavy objects was not 

part of Bristol’s job duties, so that was not discussed. 

14.  Dr. Fletcher did not specifically suggest intermittent 

leave for Bristol, nor did she state that he would need to take 

leave five to seven times per month at one to two days per time.  

Rather, her response to American Water’s inquiry was that 

Bristol “may expect exacerbation” of his condition five to seven 

times a month.  In section 8 of the form – which is the section 

for the physician to recommend accommodations – Dr. Fletcher 

wrote only, “As noted above.”  (Again, see endnote 2, below). 
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15.  On January 31, 2014, American Water again contacted 

Dr. Fletcher for additional information.  She was asked about 

Bristol’s mental or psychological disorder, to which she 

replied, “depression and anxiety” but that the condition did not 

currently limit Bristol’s activities.  As to the lumbar disk 

degeneration, the limitations were listed as, “limits his 

ability to sit/stand/lift items and duration of work tolerated.”  

Dr. Fletcher was provided a matrix outlining Bristol’s essential 

job functions and asked what accommodations might be warranted 

for each. 

16.  Dr. Fletcher replied to those inquiries on February 6 

as follows (paraphrased): 

As for typing, Bristol may need to take 

breaks every hour; 

 

As for sitting, Bristol should be allowed to 

move/walk for five minutes every hour; 

 

As for standing, Bristol should be allowed 

to sit/rest for five minutes every hour; 

 

As to whether he could work full time, i.e., 

attendance, yes, as long as the previously 

noted accommodations were provided. 

17.  It is significant that Dr. Fletcher again did not 

recommend intermittent leave for Bristol.  Bristol nonetheless 

continued to ask American Water to approve intermittent leave as 

an accommodation.  The primary reason American Water would not 

approve intermittent leave for Bristol was that it was necessary 
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to be able to staff the customer service center at all times.  

Allowing employees to miss work randomly would adversely affect 

American Water’s ability to insure adequate staff.  In fact, 

American Water considered Bristol a very good employee and would 

have preferred to retain him if possible.  This was despite an 

allegation that Bristol had forwarded computer screen shots of 

customers to his personal email address, a terminable offense. 

18.  American Water considered its actions to be in 

compliance with the recommendations of Dr. Fletcher.  Although 

attached to a headset wire, Bristol had some minimal ability to 

move about his work space.  He was able to stand when he needed 

to stand and sit when he needed to sit.  He was not required to 

lift anything over 25 pounds.  He was able to leave his work 

station to walk around every hour or so, but would have to log 

out temporarily to do so.  Employees could log out using a 

special “AUX” code for bathroom breaks.   

19.  It must be noted that during the entirety of the final 

hearing, Bristol sat without taking (or asking for) any breaks.  

He did not take advantage of breaks requested by others; rather, 

he remained seated as he talked with his counsel.  His 

willingness and ability to remain seated during the final 

hearing flies in the face of his stated difficulties while 

working at American Water.  While there may be some unstated 

reason that Bristol did not need relief at the final hearing, 
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without some explanation that fact significantly affects the 

credibility of his testimony.
3/
  

20.  Bristol continued to miss many days (or parts of days) 

at work after his FMLA leave was used up.  Being away from one’s 

work station for over an hour was considered an absence by 

American Water.
4/
   He presumed that those absences would 

ultimately be covered or approved under his anticipated ADA 

leave, but no one ever told him that would be the case (nor did 

he inquire about it).  His presumption was based on the fact 

that his prior absences while applying for FMLA leave had been 

covered once FMLA was approved.  While waiting for a response to 

the ADA leave request, Bristol continued working at American 

Water – and continued missing all or parts of days from work.  

He would ask his direct supervisor, Shelby Weese, about the 

status of his ADA application from time to time, but she did not 

have any information from HR to share with him. 

21.  On February 13, 2014, Bristol and his union 

representative (Courtney Brown) met with HR business partner 

Delles.  Bristol at that time explained that he believed his ADA 

leave would be retroactively applied to his unexcused 

absences.  At this meeting, Delles explained that the FMLA leave 

Bristol had taken previously was mandated by law, i.e., American 

Water could not object to the leave once Bristol was approved.  

To obtain FMLA leave, an employee needs only to work the 
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requisite number of hours in their job.  Thus, he was allowed to 

miss numerous days of work without recourse.  The ADA leave, 

however, was different; the requirements for approval of ADA 

leave are more stringent than for FMLA leave.  An employer does 

not have to grant ADA leave, but is required to approve FMLA 

leave if the employee qualifies. 

22.  At the meeting with Delles, Bristol advised her that 

he would be filing a claim against American Water with the 

Employee Equal Opportunity Commission.  This was despite the 

fact that American Water had attempted to provide 

accommodations.  Further, Bristol had never been chastised or 

reprimanded by American Water for applying for ADA leave or FMLA 

leave.  In fact, American Water had prompted Bristol to apply 

for ADA when his FMLA leave was exhausted. 

23.  All the while, Bristol continued to be absent from 

work in excess of his available leave.  Bristol had been 

notified on June 12, 2013, that he was being issued a Level I 

verbal warning for non-attendance pursuant to American Water’s 

attendance policy.  On that same day, he was notified that he 

was being issued a Level II written warning for non-attendance 

due to a second occurrence.  On November 15, 2013, he was given 

a Level III final written warning for non-attendance. 

24.  A Level I verbal warning is issued when an employee 

uses up his sick leave and annual leave and then misses between 
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one hour and one full day of work, i.e., an unexcused absence.  

The warning would remain “active” in an employee’s file for up 

to six months.  A Level II written warning is issued when the 

employee has a second unexcused absence while the verbal warning 

was still active.  The Level II warning would remain active for 

up to 12 months.  A Level III final warning is issued when there 

is a third unexcused absence while the Level II warning was 

still active.  If there is a fourth unexcused absence, the 

employee’s contract of employment will be terminated.  American 

Water followed its progressive discipline policy regarding 

Bristol’s absences. 

25.  On February 24, 2014, Bristol was notified by American 

Water that his employment was being terminated.  The stated 

reason for the termination of employment was excessive absences.  

The letter of notification indicated absences of over one hour 

on 34 additional days following his final written warning.   

26.  Bristol refused to accept the accommodations suggested 

by American Water.  He maintained that the only way he could 

continue working was to be allowed to take intermittent leave 

whenever he felt the need.  American Water could not agree to 

that plan because it had a defined need for customer service 

representatives to be available on the days they were scheduled, 

except for normal expectation of sickness or other unforeseen 

reasons for being absent.  Otherwise, American Water would find 
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it impossible to effectively schedule the necessary number of 

representatives on any given day.  

27.  American Water did not offer Bristol an alternative 

job because, as a union member, he was in the only job covered 

by the union.  Whether he could have withdrawn from the union 

was not discussed with Bristol (or addressed at final hearing).   

28.  After termination of his employment at American Water, 

Bristol became employed as a “salad chef” at a local restaurant 

called Jaco’s.  He works approximately seven hours each day and 

stands for the duration of his work shift, but he gets to walk 

around the kitchen area.  Bristol did not say whether Jaco’s was 

asked to provide any accommodations for his disability.  This 

fact, too, negatively colors Bristol’s credibility concerning 

his claims against American Water. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

29.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida 

Statutes.   

30.  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (the “Act” or 

“FCRA”) is codified in sections 760.01–760.11, Florida Statutes.  

The Act’s general purpose is “to secure for all individuals 

within the state freedom from discrimination because of race, 
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color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status and thereby to protect their interest in personal 

dignity, to make available to the state their full productive 

capacities, to secure the state against domestic strife and 

unrest, to preserve the public safety, health, and general 

welfare, and to promote the interests, rights, and privileges of 

individuals within the state.”  § 760.01, Fla. Stat.  When “a 

Florida statute [such as the FCRA] is modeled after a federal 

law on the same subject, the Florida statute will take on the 

same constructions as placed on its federal prototype.”  Brand 

v. Florida Power Corp., 633 So. 2d 504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). 

Therefore, the FCRA should be interpreted, where possible, to 

conform to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, which 

contains the principal federal anti-discrimination laws. 

31.  Also, FCRA discrimination claims are analyzed under 

the same framework as claims under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act.  See Rabb v. Sch. Bd. Orange Cnty, 590 Fed. 

Appx. 849, 850 (11th Cir. 2014); D’Angelo v. ConAgra Foods, 

Inc., 422 F.3d 1220 (11th Cir. 2005). 

32.  Section 760.10 provides, in relevant part: 

(1) It is unlawful employment practice for an 

employer:  

(a) To discharge or fail or refuse to hire 

any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual 

with respect to compensation, terms, 
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conditions, or privileges of 

employment, because of such 

individual’s race, color, religion, 

sex, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status.  

33.  American Water is an employer pursuant to section 

760.02(7), Florida Statutes.  Bristol is an employee as defined 

in 42 U.S.C. § 12111(4). 

34.  The term “discriminate” as used in section 760.10 

includes “not making reasonable accommodations to the known 

physical or mental limitations of an . . . employee, unless such 

covered entity can demonstrate that the accommodation would 

impose an undue hardship on the operation of such covered 

entity”.  42 U.S.C. § 12112(b)(5)(A).  A “failure to make 

reasonable accommodation” claim does not require animus or 

intent; it occurs when the covered entity fails to fulfill its 

duty to make a reasonable accommodation to the known physical or 

mental limitations of an otherwise qualified employee with a 

disability.  However, the employer must demonstrate that the 

proposed accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the 

operation of the business.  See Nadler v. Harvey, No. 06-12692, 

2007 WL 2404705 (11th Cir. Aug. 24, 2007). 

35.  In the present case, American Water attempted to 

provide Bristol with reasonable accommodations for his 

disability.  The work station was modified to allow Bristol 

opportunity to sit or stand as needed, and the extended 
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telephone cord gave him some range of motion (albeit not much, 

and not as much as Bristol wanted).  From the totality of the 

evidence presented, the accommodation was sufficient.  Bristol’s 

demand for unlimited and unscheduled absences was not an 

accommodation that could be granted by American Water if it was 

to maintain a regular and reliable workforce each day.   

36.  Bristol’s request for intermittent leave was not an 

accommodation for doing the job of customer service 

representative; it was an accommodation for not violating 

American Water’s absentee policy.  The job of customer 

representative was one that had to be performed on-site, thus 

American Water’s proposed on-site accommodation was reasonable.  

The request for intermittent leave was not reasonable as it did 

not relate to Bristol’s ability to perform the functions of the 

position.    

37.  Still, an analysis of Bristol’s claim is in order to 

make it clear that, even without an accommodation, his claim for 

relief fails. 

38.  To establish a prima facie case of disability 

discrimination under the ADA and FCRA, the employee must show: 

(1) he has a disability; (2) he is a qualified individual, 

meaning he is able to perform the essential functions of the 

position with or without accommodation; and (3) the employer 

unlawfully discriminated against him because of the disability.  
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Raytheon Co. v. Hernandez, 540 U.S. 44, 49 n.3 (2003); D’Angelo 

v. ConAgra, supra; Holly v. Clairson Indus. L.L.C., 492 F.3d 

1247, 1255-56 (11th Cir. 2007); and Morisky v. Broward Cnty., 80 

F.3d 445, 447 (11th Cir. 1996). 

39.  Bristol meets the first prong of the analysis, as his 

degenerative disk disease substantially limits one or more of 

his major life activities.  Further, American Water tacitly 

accepted the fact that Bristol was a disabled person. 

40.  To satisfy the second prong, Bristol must show that he 

is a qualified individual with a disability.  That is, he must 

show that he is “an individual who, with or without reasonable 

accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the 

employment position that such individual holds or desires.”    

42 U.S.C. § 12111(8); Davis v. Fla. Power & Light Co., 205 F.3d 

1301, 1305 (11th Cir. 2000).  There is a two-step inquiry to be 

made in order to determine whether the individual is a 

“qualified individual” under the ADA:  1) Whether the individual 

satisfies the requisite skills, experience, education and other 

job-related requirements, and 2) Whether the individual can 

perform the essential functions of the position, with or without 

accommodations.  Criado v. IBM Corp., 145 F.3d 437, 443      

(1st Cir. 1998).   

41.  Clearly Bristol satisfied the first part of the 

inquiry.  He had already proven that he could handle the 
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requirements of the job and was considered a good employee.  

However, the position required the employee to be present at the 

customer call center in order to perform those functions.  The 

reasonable accommodations suggested by American Water to allow 

Bristol to be present were rejected by Bristol as inadequate.  

Rather, he demanded intermittent leave as an accommodation, in 

effect allowing him to work at a completely random schedule as 

allowed by his back pain.  American Water clearly articulated 

the reasons such a schedule would not be acceptable and that 

attendance at the call center was paramount.  Inasmuch as 

Bristol could not perform the functions of the job from his 

home, he could not perform the job functions with or without an 

accommodation. 

42.  The third prong of the discrimination inquiry is 

whether the employee was subjected to unlawful discrimination.  

There is no evidence in the record that American Water 

discriminated against Bristol at all.  The employer consented to 

Bristol’s use of FMLA leave; it assisted Bristol in attempting 

to obtain leave under the ADA; American Water provided an 

ergonomic work station.  In total, the record is clear that 

American Water wanted Bristol to be an employee, but Bristol’s 

inability to work – even with accommodations – did not allow him 

to do so.  Bristol, just like every other employee in the 

customer call center, was expected to be at work on a regular 
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and predictable schedule (excluding emergencies or occasional 

sick days).  He was treated just the same as all other, non-

disabled employees. 

43.  Section 760.10(7) states that it is unlawful for an 

employer to “discriminate against any person because that person 

has opposed any practice in which an unlawful employment 

practice under this section, or because that person has made a 

charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an 

investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this section.”  

Bristol’s claim of retaliation by American Water fails because 

of the absence of sufficient evidence as to Bristol’s alleged 

EEOC claim, i.e., whether it was specifically related to the 

actions which gave rise to the instant proceeding.  There is no 

evidence that Bristol ever even filed such a claim. 

44.  As a result of the conclusions of law above, there is 

no reason to discuss damages or other relief for Bristol. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that a Final Order be entered finding 

that American Water Service Company, Inc., did not discriminate 

against Micheal D. Bristol. 
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     DONE AND ENTERED this 24th day of April, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

R. BRUCE MCKIBBEN 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 24th day of April, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  The Proposed Recommended Order submitted by American Water 

based some of its findings on its exhibits 19-21, 24-26, 29, and 

38.  However, those exhibits were not admitted into evidence and 

the proposed findings supported by the exhibits were not 

considered in this Recommended Order.  

 
2/
  Unfortunately, Dr. Fletcher did not testify at final hearing 

nor was her deposition transcript offered into evidence.  

Therefore, it is difficult to determine what she specifically 

meant by her written comments.  They were not particularly 

responsive to the questions asked and were somewhat general in 

nature.  

 
3/
  This finding is not meant in any way to diminish or dismiss 

the discomfort Mr. Bristol may be experiencing due to his lower 

back pain.  It is obvious from his medical records that he has 

been dealing with the situation for a number of years.    

However, his demeanor and behavior during final hearing in this 

matter was not consistent with his statements concerning a need 

for hourly relief.  

 
4/
  Had Bristol taken a five minute break every hour of an eight-

hour work day, i.e., at 9:00, 10:00, 11:00, then lunch, 2:00, 
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3:00, and 4:00, that would constitute only 30 minutes away from 

his desk.  An absence was defined as over one hour in length.  

No one at final hearing discussed or explained why those 

intermittent breaks would not be sufficient for Bristol’s needs.   

 

 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Therese A. Felth, Esquire 

McKenzie Law Firm, P.A. 

905 East Hatton Street 

Pensacola, Florida  32503-3931 

(eServed) 

 

McCray Pettway, Esquire 

1025 Laurel Oak Road 

Voorhees, New Jersey  08043 

 

Melanie Zaharias, Esquire 

Littler Mendelson, P.C. 

111 North Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1250 

Orlando, Florida  32801-2366 

(eServed) 

 

Rodrick D. Holmes 

Littler Mendelson, P.C. 

3725 Champion Hills Drive 

Memphis, Tennessee  38125 

(eServed) 

 

Tammy Scott Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



24 

 

 
 NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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Case No. 14-4457 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

     This case came before Administrative Law Judge John G. 

Van Laningham for final hearing by video teleconference on  

March 18, 2015, at sites in Tallahassee and West Palm Beach, 

Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

 

     For Petitioner:  Phyllis Phyl, pro se  

  6079 Boca Colony Drive, Unit 1012  

  Boca Raton, Florida  33433  

                             

     For Respondent:  Warren Astbury, Esquire  

    Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak  

      & Stewart, P.C.  

    100 North Tampa Street, Suite 3600  

    Tampa, Florida  33602 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

The issue in this case is whether Respondent, a public 

lodging establishment, unlawfully discriminated against 

Petitioner, who is African-American, by refusing to provide her 

accommodations or service based upon race. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 In a Public Accommodation Complaint of Discrimination filed 

with the Florida Commission on Human Relations ("FCHR") on  

May 5, 2014, Petitioner Phyllis Phyl alleged that she had been 

discriminated against at Respondent's hotel in Pompano Beach, 

Florida.  Specifically, Ms. Phyl complained that, because she is 

black, Respondent had refused to check her in as soon as she 

arrived at the hotel, where she had a reservation for a two-

night stay beginning on February 22, 2014, claiming that no 

rooms were available.   

The FCHR investigated Ms. Phyl's complaint and, on  

August 14, 2014, issued a notice stating that it had found "no 

reasonable cause to believe that a public accommodation 

violation occurred."  Thereafter, Ms. Phyl timely filed a 

Petition for Relief with the FCHR in which she repeated her 

allegation that Respondent had refused promptly to offer 

accommodations or service based upon race.   

On September 22, 2014, the FCHR transferred the matter to 

the Division of Administrative Hearings for further proceedings, 

and an administrative law judge ("ALJ") was assigned to the 

case.   

After a couple of continuances, the final hearing took 

place on March 18, 2015, with both parties present.  Petitioner 

testified on her own behalf.  Petitioner's Exhibits D, F, G, I, 
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J, K, M, Q, X, and Y were received in evidence.  Petitioner's 

Exhibits H and R were offered and rejected as inadmissible 

hearsay.  Respondent called its employees Juan Carlos Villa and 

Charles Carter as witnesses.  Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 14 

were admitted into evidence without objection.   

The final hearing was transcribed, but neither party 

ordered a transcript of the proceeding.  Each side submitted a 

proposed recommended order before the deadline established at 

the conclusion of the hearing, which was March 30, 2015. 

Unless otherwise indicated, citations to the Florida 

Statutes refer to the 2014 Florida Statutes. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Petitioner Phyllis Phyl ("Phyl") is an African-American 

woman who resides in Boca Raton, Florida. 

2.  Respondent G6 Hospitality, LLC, d/b/a Studio 6  

("Studio 6"), is the owner and operator of the Studio 6 Extended 

Stay Hotel located in Pompano Beach, Florida (the "Hotel").   

3.  Phyl arrived at the Hotel at around 1:30 p.m. on 

February 22, 2014.  Previously, she had made a reservation for a 

two-night stay, booking a nonsmoking room with a queen bed.  

Phyl was aware that check-in time at the Hotel was 3:00 p.m., 

but she decided to take a chance that a room would be available 

for earlier occupancy.  When Phyl attempted to register, 
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however, the clerk informed Phyl that no rooms were available 

for early check in.  

4.  Phyl elected to wait in her car, which was parked in 

the Hotel's parking lot.  From there, she watched a black man 

enter the Hotel and walk out a few minutes later.  Phyl assumed 

that he, too, had been told that his room was not ready.  She 

did not, however, witness his attempt to check in (if that is 

what occurred), and therefore Phyl lacks personal knowledge of 

this man's transaction with the Hotel, if any.
2/
   

5.  Unhappy, Phyl walked around the Hotel grounds and 

peered through the window of an apparently vacant room, which 

she determined, based on her observation, was clean and ready 

for occupancy.  Phyl might have been mistaken, for she could not 

see, e.g., the bathroom, but even if her assumption were 

correct, the fact is not probative of discriminatory intent.  

This is because a room is not "available" for guest occupancy at 

this Hotel until after a manager has inspected the room, deemed 

it "clean," and caused such information to be entered into the 

Hotel's computer system, at which point the front-desk clerk is 

on notice that the room is ready.  Thus, there is a delay 

between the time the housekeeping staff finishes cleaning a room 

and the time the front-desk clerk is able to let the room to a 

guest.   
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6.  After peeking in the seemingly empty room, Phyl 

returned to her car, and soon she noticed a white couple enter 

the Hotel, from which they exited several minutes later.  Phyl 

did not witness the couple's activities inside the Hotel.  The 

man and woman got into their car and drove around the Hotel 

premises.  Phyl followed.  She watched the couple park, leave 

their car, and enter a room.  She observed the man retrieve some 

luggage and bring his bags to the room.  Phyl assumed that this 

couple had just checked in. 

7.  Phyl returned to the Hotel lobby and inquired again 

about the availability of a room.  This time the clerk told her 

a room was ready.  Phyl checked in at 2:09 p.m.   

8.  Phyl stayed two nights, as planned, and paid the rate 

quoted in her reservation.  When she checked out on  

February 24, 2014, the clerk refunded the $25 security deposit 

Phyl had given the Hotel at check in, which was required because 

she wanted to pay cash for the room (and did).  Phyl claims that 

the clerk was rude to her, and so she left without taking a 

receipt. 

9.  Hotel business records show that on February 22, 2014, 

no guest checked in between Phyl's arrival at 1:30 p.m. and  

2:09 p.m., when she herself checked in.  The white man who 

(together with a female companion) seemed to have checked in 

while Phyl was waiting actually had checked in earlier that day, 
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at 11:14 a.m.  The undersigned rejects as unfounded Phyl's 

contention that the Hotel's records are unreliable and possibly 

fraudulent and instead accepts them as persuasive evidence.    

Ultimate Factual Determinations 

 10.  At the material time, the Hotel was a "public lodging 

establishment" within the reach of section 509.092, Florida 

Statutes, and a "public accommodation" as that term is defined 

in section 760.02(11).  Thus, the Hotel is accountable to Phyl 

for unlawful discrimination in violation of the Florida Civil 

Rights Act if such occurred.   

 11.  The greater weight of the evidence, however, fails to 

establish that the Hotel refused accommodations or service to 

Phyl, or otherwise unlawfully discriminated against her.  

Rather, the Hotel provided Phyl the type of room she had 

reserved, at the quoted rate, for the length of stay she 

requested.  Indeed, despite arriving 90 minutes before the 

Hotel's published check-in time, Phyl was able to get a room 

early, after waiting little more than half an hour.  The Hotel's 

conduct, in this instance, cannot be faulted. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 

12.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has personal 

and subject matter jurisdiction in this proceeding pursuant to 

sections 120.569 and 120.57(1), Florida Statutes. 
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 13.  Being a private enterprise, a hotel "has the right to 

refuse accommodations or service to any person who is 

objectionable or undesirable to the operator[.]"  § 509.092, 

Fla. Stat.  Under the Florida Civil Rights Act,
3/
 however, a 

"public lodging establishment" may not refuse to serve any 

person on the basis of "race, creed, color, sex, physical 

disability, or national origin."  Id.  "A person aggrieved by a 

violation of [section 509.092] or a violation of a rule adopted 

[thereunder] has a right of action pursuant to s. 760.11."  Id.     

 14.  The term "public lodging establishment" as defined in 

section 509.013(4)(a)1., Florida Statutes, includes "any unit, 

group of units, dwelling, building, or group of buildings within 

a single complex of buildings which is rented to guests more 

than three times in a calendar year for periods of less than 30 

days or 1 calendar month, whichever is less, or which is 

advertised or held out to the public as a place regularly rented 

to guests."   

 15.  The term "public accommodations" means "places of 

public accommodation, lodgings, facilities principally engaged 

in selling food for consumption on the premises, gasoline 

stations, places of exhibition or entertainment, and other 

covered establishments" and includes "[a]ny inn, hotel, motel, 

or other establishment which provides lodging to transient 

guests."  § 760.02(11)(a), Fla. Stat. 
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 16.  As found, the Hotel was, in fact, both a public 

lodging establishment and a public accommodation at all relevant 

times. 

 17.  Section 760.08 provides as follows: 

All persons shall be entitled to the full 

and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, 

facilities, privileges, advantages, and 

accommodations of any place of public 

accommodation, as defined in this chapter, 

without discrimination or segregation on the 

ground of race, color, national origin, sex, 

handicap, familial status, or religion. 

 

 18.  The undersigned finds persuasive the opinion of a 

federal district court sitting in Florida, which found, in a 

case brought under Florida law involving the allegation that a 

restaurant had discriminated against the African-American 

plaintiffs by requiring prepayment for their meals, that the 

substantive rights afforded under the state statute are informed 

by the federal anti-discrimination laws after which the Florida 

Civil Rights Act was patterned.  See Stevens v. Steak n Shake, 

Inc., 35 F. Supp. 2d 882, 886 (M.D. Fla. 1998)("[T]his Court 

looks to established federal public accommodation law in order 

to determine the meaning of the term 'such refusal may not be 

based upon race, creed, [or] color . . .' in Fla. Stat.  

§ 509.092, and to determine the elements of [the plaintiffs'] 

civil rights claims under the Florida Statute."); see also 

Laroche v. Denny's, Inc., 62 F. Supp. 2d 1375 (S.D. Fla. 
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1999)(in case where restaurant was alleged to have refused 

service to black customers, court treated plaintiffs' federal 

and state law claims as having identical substantive elements).
4/
  

 19.  The two federal statutes that guard against 

discrimination in public accommodations, including hotels, are 

Title II of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000a,  

et seq., and 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  E.g. Stevens, 35 F. Supp. 2d at 

886.  As a practical matter, in race-based, refusal-to-serve 

cases, courts usually draw no meaningful distinction between the 

elements of a Title II claim, on the one hand, and a Section 

1981 claim, on the other.  E.g., id. at 886-87; Laroche,  

62 F. Supp. 2d at 1382-83. 

 20.  In Stevens, the district court, following federal 

precedents, held that to prevail under section 509.092, Florida 

Statutes, a plaintiff must establish three elements:  "1.) that 

she is a member of a protected class; 2.) that defendant 

intended to discriminate against her on that basis; and 3.) that 

defendant's racially discriminatory conduct abridged a right 

enumerated in the statute."  Id. at 887. 

 21.  Other courts, including the district court in Laroche, 

have found the familiar McDonnell Douglas framework of elements 

and shifting burdens,
5/
 which was fashioned for use in Title VII 

litigation, to be applicable in public accommodation cases.  The 

McDonnell Douglas framework enables the plaintiff to make a 
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prima facie case without direct evidence of intent, which is 

often unavailable.
6/
 

 22.  In Laroche, the court required the plaintiffs to 

establish, as a prima facie showing of discrimination, that: 

(1) they are members of a protected class; 

(2) they attempted to contract for services 

and to afford themselves the full benefits 

and enjoyment of a public accommodation;  

(3) they were denied the right to contract 

for those services and, thus, were denied 

the full benefits or enjoyment of a public 

accommodation; and (4) such services were 

available to similarly situated persons 

outside the protected class who received 

full benefits or enjoyment, or were treated 

better. 

 

62 F. Supp. 2d at 1382; see also, e.g., Fahim v. Marriott Hotel 

Servs., 551 F.3d 344, 350 (5th Cir. 2008). 

 23.  Phyl failed to make out a prima facie case of 

discrimination because she was not denied accommodations or 

service.  She did not even suffer slow or delayed service.  

True, Phyl was not able to check in immediately upon her 

arrival, and she did have to wait approximately a half an hour 

for a room to become available.  But the Hotel checked Phyl in 

nearly an hour before the published check-in time of 3:00 p.m.  

Phyl knew that she was taking a chance in arriving early that 

she would have to wait.  Under the circumstances, any 

inconvenience she suffered was entirely predictable. 
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 24.  Moreover, there is no persuasive evidence that the 

Hotel had rooms available for early check in which it withheld 

from Phyl or let to other guests while making her wait.  To the 

contrary, the persuasive evidence establishes that no rooms were 

available for occupancy at the moment Phyl arrived, and that as 

soon as a room became available, about 30 minutes later, the 

Hotel offered it to Phyl.  Thus, even if Phyl had made a prima 

facie case of discrimination, which she did not, the Hotel 

articulated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the 

"delayed" service that the undersigned has found to be credible 

and nonpretextual.   

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations enter a final order dismissing Phyl's Petition for 

Relief. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 12 

DONE AND ENTERED this 22nd day of April, 2015, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

 

S 
____________________________________ 
JOHN G. VAN LANINGHAM 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 22nd day of April, 2015. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1/
  The undersigned has amended the style of the case to identify 

Respondent by its correct corporate name.   
  
2/
  Phyl did not adduce any nonhearsay evidence at hearing to 

substantiate her assumption that the Hotel made another person 

of color wait for a room. 

 
3/
  The Florida Civil Rights Act comprises sections 760.01-760.11 

and 509.092, Florida Statutes.  § 760.01(1), Fla. Stat.  

   
4/
  This approach is in accord with the rule that federal anti-

discrimination laws may properly be used for guidance in 

evaluating the merits of claims arising under section 760.10, 

Florida Statutes.  See Brand v. Fla. Power Corp., 633 So. 2d 

504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Fla. Dep't of Cmty. Aff. v. 

Bryant, 586 So. 2d 1205, 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). 
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5/
  In McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-03 

(1973), the Supreme Court of the United States articulated a 

burden of proof scheme for cases involving allegations of 

discrimination under Title VII, where the plaintiff relies upon 

circumstantial evidence.  See also, e.g., St. Mary's Honor 

Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506-07 (1993). 

 

Pursuant to this analysis, the plaintiff has the initial 

burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence a 

prima facie case of unlawful discrimination.  Failure to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination ends the inquiry.  

See Ratliff v. State, 666 So. 2d 1008, 1012 n.6 (Fla. 1st DCA), 

aff'd, 679 So. 2d 1183 (1996)(citing Arnold v. Burger Queen 

Sys., 509 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987)).   

 

If, however, the plaintiff succeeds in making a prima facie 

case, then the burden shifts to the defendant to articulate some 

legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its complained-of 

conduct.  If the defendant carries this burden of rebutting the 

plaintiff's prima facie case, then the plaintiff must 

demonstrate that the proffered reason was not the true reason 

but merely a pretext for discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas,  

411 U.S. at 802-03; Hicks, 509 U.S. at 506-07. 

 

In Hicks, the Court stressed that even if the trier of fact 

were to reject as incredible the reason put forward by the 

defendant in justification for its actions, the burden 

nevertheless would remain with the plaintiff to prove the 

ultimate question whether the defendant intentionally had 

discriminated against him.  Hicks, 509 U.S. at 511.  "It is not 

enough, in other words, to disbelieve the employer; the 

factfinder must believe the plaintiff's explanation of 

intentional discrimination."  Id. at 519. 

 
6/
  Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would prove 

the existence of discriminatory intent without resort to 

inference or presumption.  Denney v. The City of Albany,  

247 F.3d 1172, 1182 (11th Cir. 2001); Holifield v. Reno, 115 

F.3d 1555, 1561 (11th Cir. 1997). 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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